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BOOK ONE









Chapter One


I


On Thursday, the 25th October, 1810, a windy day with the first autumnal leaves floating down over the parks and commons of England, the old King went mad.


It was an event of consequence not only to the country but to the world. Among those it directly affected were four Cornishmen, a merchant, a soldier, a diplomat and a doctor.


Of course it was not the first time: twenty-two years earlier he had gone insane for a long enough period to bring the legislative affairs of the country to a standstill. Again in 1801 and in 1804 there had been short periods of aberration, enough to give rise to anxiety on the part of his doctors and his ministers. To begin with, this latest attack seemed little different from the others. Except that he was older, and nearly blind, and that his favourite daughter was dying . . .


The first symptom was that he began to talk. All through the day – non-stop – and most of the night too. One sentence in five was rational, the rest were irrelevances strung together like rags on a kite, blowing as the wind took them. He addressed his sons: those who like Octavius were dead he thought alive; those who were alive – and there were many of them – he thought dead. He laughed aloud and crawled under the sofa and was brought out with the greatest difficulty.


The Whigs tried unsuccessfully to hide their gratification. The Prince of Wales was devotedly of their party, and if he became Regent he would at once dismiss the Tory mediocrities who had clung to office for so many years. The long sojourn in opposition was nearly over.


Napoleon too was gratified and made no greater attempt to hide his pleasure. The Whigs were the party of peace: those who did not secretly admire him were at least convinced that it was futile to wage war on him. They agreed with him that he could never be beaten and were anxious to come to terms. They would be his terms.


II


Almost exactly four weeks before the King’s illness, three horsemen were picking their way down a stony ravine in the neighbourhood of Pampilosa. The second in line was a middle-aged man, tall, good-looking if a little gaunt, wearing a riding habit and a cloak of good quality but well worn and of no particular nationality; the two others were younger, small, wiry, ragged men in the uniform of the Portuguese army. There had been a road, a dusty track, since they set out in the early morning from Oporto, but lately it had deteriorated and become so overgrown that only one of the two soldiers could pick it out among the scrub oak, the cactus, the boulders, the rotted trees. He led the way.


As dusk began to fall the older man said in English to the man behind: ‘How much farther?’


There was talk between the soldiers. ‘Garcia says the Convent of Bussaco should be but three leagues or so distant now, senhor.’


‘Will he find it in the dark?’


‘He has never been there, but there should be lights.’


‘If it has not been evacuated. Like all else.’


‘At the request of your general, senhor.’


They rode on, the small sturdy horses slipping and sliding down the rough descent. All the way they had come across deserted farmhouses, burnt crops, dead animals, overturned ox-carts, the trail of evacuation and destruction. There had been corpses too, teeming with flies, usually old people who had collapsed in flight. But it was clear that the countryside was not as deserted as it seemed. Here and there foliage stirred; figures appeared and disappeared among the olive trees; several times shots had been fired, and once at least the balls had flown near enough for discomfort. The peasants were fleeing from the invader but many of the men were staying behind to harass him as best they could. The Ordenanza, or militia men, were also in evidence; in woollen caps, short brown cloaks and threadbare breeches, armed with anything from butchers’ knives to old blunderbusses, and riding wild ragged ponies, they arrived suddenly in clouds of dust or wheeled against the skyline blowing briefly on crescent-shaped horns. Twice the Englishman had had to produce his papers, in spite of his Portuguese escort. He did not fancy the fate of any stragglers of the invading army. But then the behaviour of the invading army had invited every sort of retaliation.


It was a mild September night but no moon. A few mist clouds drifted across the spangled stars.


They reached a dried-up river bed beneath a cliff, and the leading soldier dismounted and cast about him like a bird dog seeking a new scent. The Englishman waited patiently. If they were lost they could sleep well enough in their cloaks; a night among the stunted chestnut trees would do no one any harm, and they had food and water to last.


Then a bent figure emerged from behind a clump of aloes. Indistinguishable as to age and sex, it approached cautiously and there was whispered talk. The soldier turned and said:


‘We are closer to the convent than we thought, senhor, but it will be necessary to make a detour. The French army is directly ahead of us.’


There was a pause.


‘Which way ahead of us?’


‘West, senhor. They are a great host. They have been pursuing the English all day. This man advises keeping to the river bed for half a league, then crossing between the hills to the Bussaco ridge. The French artillery are in the valley.’


The Englishman fumbled in his pouch and found a coin to give to the stunted figure who had saved them from stumbling into the enemy lines. Since he had a fair appreciation of the value of his own freedom, the coin was a large one, and the ragged shadow was suitably overcome, and went off bowing backwards into the darkness that had hatched him. In the present chaos, the giver reflected, when civilization had broken down, a plug of tobacco might have been more valuable.


The riders followed the advice they had been given, moving all the time very cautiously among the great boulders, lest the warning turned out to be more general than precise. Ever and again the leading soldier would halt his horse and listen for the tell-tale sounds that might warn them they were running into an encamped enemy. It took an hour to reach the turning to which they had been directed. It was a moot point whether to stop there for the night, but clearly the greater distance they could put between themselves and the French, the safer they could rest. The idea of reaching the convent at Bussaco was dropped; it seemed likely that the French would already have occupied it.


As the evening advanced a cool wind got up off the sea, which was only a few miles distant, and the riders made better use of their cloaks. They began to climb, first among hillocks, then diagonally up and across a sharp and rocky ridge. As they reached what appeared to be the top, with the gorse and heather waist high around them, the leading soldier again stopped. They all stopped and listened. A very peculiar sound, like a wail; it could have been women’s voices keening, but was not. It could have been some sort of flute – a shepherd piping to his flock – but it was not.


The horses came up with each other. The two soldiers argued together. The one who spoke English said:


‘We must turn farther north, senhor. That is the French.’


‘No,’ said the Englishman. ‘I do not believe that is the French.’


‘Then what?’


‘Let us see for ourselves.’


‘No, no! We shall be captured. We shall be shot down!’


‘Then wait here,’ said the Englishman. ‘Or follow me but slowly, fifty paces behind. Then if I am wrong you can still see to your own freedom. ‘The French will not follow you far at night.’


‘And for yourself, senhor?’


‘I have an idea what this – noise – is.’


He edged his way across the heather towards a rocky bluff that could be discerned in the dark because it cut off the stars. His escort came after him at a distance. They had gone some quarter of a mile when they were halted by a challenge. The Englishman reined in his horse and stared at a solitary figure holding a firelock directed at him. Then he saw three other men part hidden behind bushes, their guns also at the ready.


He said sharply, in English: ‘Friend. Name Poldark. From Oporto with despatches. And Portuguese escort.’


After some moments the first musket was lowered and a stocky bonneted figure came slowly forward.


‘Let’s see yer papers.’


The Englishman dismounted and fumbled in his pocket, produced a wallet and handed it over. Another of the soldiers appeared with a shaded lantern, and they bent over it together.


‘Aye, sir. That would seem in order-r. Who would ye be wishing to see?’


‘Who’s your commanding officer?’


‘General Cole, sir, o’ the division. Colonel McNeil o’ the battalion.’


‘What are you, infantry men?’


‘Second Battalion, Seventh Fusiliers. Sergeant Lewis.’


‘I’ll see your colonel.’


The two Portuguese soldiers had also dismounted and their white teeth glinted in the dark as they were greeted by their allies. They walked their horses along the ridge of the escarpment and were soon among a mass of soldiery taking their ease, talking, chatting, but cooking nothing, the few fires being sited so that they should be little seen at a distance.


‘My escort were greatly alarmed at the noise they heard,’ said Poldark presently. ‘What were your pipers playing?’


Sergeant Lewis sniffed. ‘It was some old Scottish lament. It comforts the men to listen to the wistful music now. Tomorrow’s morn we shall all be more martial.’


They came to a clump of tall cedars. Their great trunks had been used to support a temporary headquarters where tables had been put up and a lantern burned. Lewis disappeared, and returned with a tall man who came forward and then stopped, stared and swallowed.


‘Poldark, Poldark!’ he said. ‘So it’s Captain Poldark himself. I should never have supposed that there were more than two of that name!’


The other had stopped too. Then he laughed. ‘So it’s the same McNeil! Well, I’ll be hanged!’


‘Which you never were,’ said McNeil; ‘fortunately for your pretty wife. However much some folk thought you deserved it!’


They shook hands after a fractional hesitation. They had never been friends, because twenty years ago they had been on opposite sides of the law. But they had respected each other and come to a mutual understanding, and indeed to a certain wary liking.


Well, it was all far behind. In a cross-fire of conversation they exchanged news. Captain Poldark had landed at Oporto, not with despatches as he had claimed but on a special mission as observer on behalf of the government. When he reached Oporto he was told that Wellington had been retreating with his army for three weeks and that he would be better advised to re-ship to Lisbon and make his contacts there. But by the time this was discovered the sloop on which he had come had sailed and he had decided, against all advice, to ride overland.


He did not elaborate at all on what his mission was and Colonel McNeil did not press him. After exchanging polite news about Cornwall – the Bodrugans and the Trevaunances, the Teagues and the Trenegloses – they strolled a hundred yards to the edge of the bluff, from which they could see the whole of the Mondego Plain. A great company of glow-worms had come to inhabit it. Everywhere the lights twinkled.


‘The French,’ said McNeil laconically.


‘Massena commands?’


‘Aye. Wellington decided today to go no farther, so we have encamped up here and watched the army, the host, filling up the valley below us. Columns of dust have been blowing across the plain and into the foothills all day. The odds, of course, are not more than two to one against us; but of our forty thousand half are untried Portuguese. Ah, well, tomorrow will show . . . It was five to one at Agincourt, was it not.’


‘Well, yes. But here we have no pompous beribboned knights to confront but an army of revolutionary France forged by a genius.’


‘No doubt it will be a harder fight, but all the better for that. When do you ride on?’


‘Not tomorrow, if this is happening.’


McNeil looked at his companion. Ross Poldark was dressed as a civilian, perhaps for a greater degree of safety traversing a country at war. But then he had no reason to be a soldier, having long since taken on a new cloak of respectability; indeed become a Member of Parliament. Now he was getting up in years, grey at the temples, no fatter, but more lined. He was of the lean kind that feed their bellies with their discontent.


‘You intend to stay?’


‘Of course. I have a rifle. An extra gun can hardly be despised.’


‘Did not Henry say, “The fewer men, the greater share of honour”? All the same, I believe we can spare ye a wee bit by the way.’ McNeil screwed in his greying moustache and laughed. It was a subdued guffaw compared to the noise Ross remembered.


‘Are we lying so quiet to deceive Massena into thinking there are fewer of us than there really are?’


‘Aye. I do not think he knows our Second or Fifth Divisions have caught up with us yet. That will be pleasant – to surprise him. It is always pleasant to have some good troops up your sleeve.’


Poldark pulled his cloak round him as the night breeze blew some fog off the sea.


‘And you, McNeil. When we saw you in Cornwall you were a captain in the Scots Greys. This change to a line regiment . . .?’


McNeil shrugged. ‘I have neither money nor influence, Poldark. At the best I could have become a major had I stayed with my old regiment. Here – in the – the crucible of the Peninsular war I have already made the most important step – though as yet only a Brevet Colonel. But in the natural wastage of war I shall expect soon to have my rank confirmed.’


They stood silent, looking down on the diadem of lights, while more mist drifted in and dispersed among the sharp hills and the tall trees. McNeil took it as a natural expectation that the wastage should not include himself. Ross Poldark, equally naturally, welcomed the risks of battle that for him offered no preferment except the possible preferment of death.


Ross said: ‘One thing you said, Colonel. Perhaps I misheard you. Did you say – did I hear you say that you could not suppose there were more than two of my name?’


‘You did.’


‘Why not one? Who else is there? Do I misunderstand you, then?’


‘You do not at all. There’s a Poldark in the Monmouthshires. I saw his name but the other day in the commissary lists. I thought once to seek him out but you’ll appreciate we have not had much time on our hands!’ Ross eased the foot that now often pained. ‘Is he in this army?’


‘He must be. The 43rd are part of Craufurd’s light division. They should be immediately on our left.’


‘Far?’


‘Half a mile. Do you wish to see him? Is he a relative?’


‘I suspect so.’


‘Then I’ll get a man to go with you after supper. I take it you’ll sup with us first?’


‘Gladly.’


III


They had supped off cold food and the night was quiet, except for the scraping of the cicadas and the soughing of the wind. Once or twice the keening of the pipes grew out of the dark, a dree sound, mourning as if for the slaughter on the morrow, yet quietly stirring, both a lament and an incitement. Down below in the plain the roll of drums sounded. It was as if the French were making no secret of their power – the power that had decimated all the other armies of Europe – so that the knowledge might seep into the minds and hearts of their opponents and sap their courage before dawn broke. The English knew there would be a battle tomorrow, for Wellington had said that this was as far as they would retreat – and what Wellington said he always meant. But the French could not know whether the army encamped on the slopes above them might not have done the wise thing and slipped away before morning, leaving no more than a rearguard to delay their advance. It had happened often enough in the last few years. The British victory at Talavera last year was the exception, not the pattern.


It was near midnight when they had finished eating, and as a soldier led Ross through the lines many men were already asleep – or at least they were lying down wrapped in their cloaks. They were all, it seemed, fully clad; no one bothered to take greater ease knowing the day ahead. Groups lay on elbows or squatted, quietly talking. McNeil had mentioned Agincourt, and Ross remembered the play he had seen at Drury Lane in which the king went round visiting his soldiers on the night before the battle. Remarkable that this Scottish soldier should be able to quote a line or two. There had been a Cornishman, Ross remembered, in that play. No, no, the king had been mistaken for one by calling himself Leroy . . . Did Shakespeare suppose that was a Cornish name?


It was more than half a mile, and Ross was limping by the end of it. He rode a horse longer than he walked these days. Then it was an asking and a questing, a seeking among dark and sprawling figures, the thumb jerked, the finger pointed. Ross’s escort moved like a small Scottish ferret from group to group. At last a man sat up and said:


‘Yes, I’m Poldark. Who wants me?’


‘One of your own blood,’ said Ross. ‘Who else?’


There was a startled oath, and a thin man scrambled to his feet. He had been lying, his back propped against a tree, his scabbard across his knees. He peered in the uncertain starlight.


‘By the Lord God! It’s Uncle Ross!’


‘Geoffrey Charles! I never thought I should have the good fortune to meet you in this way! But I’m conceited enough to believe that no other person with such a name exists in the British army!’


‘By God!’ Geoffrey Charles embraced his kinsman cheek to cheek, voice and tone light with pleasure, then held him by the biceps in a firm examining grip. ‘It is too much to believe! Just when I was thinking of home – here, with the snap of a finger, as out of a magic bottle, comes the person I remember best of that motley crew – and, with one exception, value most highly! God save us! It can’t be possible!’


Ross explained his presence.


‘Then should you not go at once to Wellington instead of frittering your time discovering an unimportant nephew? Go and see Old Douro and then when he is done with you, I shall be happy to talk!’


Ross hesitated, unwilling to explain the precise nature of his presence here, uncomfortable indeed that, stated in a few sentences, it might not commend itself to his nephew at all.


‘Geoffrey Charles,’ he said, ‘I am sent here for the value of my observation rather than my communication, and I suspect General Wellington has not a little on his mind tonight. What I have to say to him will not help him win or lose the battle in the morning and can be as well said after as before.’


‘You are staying?’


‘Of course. Wouldn’t miss it. Can you use another sharpshooter immediately under your command?’


‘My command, mon Dieu! C’est à ne pas y croire—’


‘Well, I see you are now a captain. And that, since I have so long been a civilian, gives you a seniority I’d be willing to accept.’


Geoffrey Charles snorted. ‘Uncle, you do yourself no sort of honour, since I understand you have been in and out of a number of scrapes during the last ten years! To say nothing of your membership of that talk-house in Westminster! However, if you wish to be by my side in any little action which may take place to dissuade the French from climbing this escarpment . . . well, I’ll be happy to accommodate you!’


‘Good, then that’s settled.’


‘You’ve seen the French encamped below?’


‘Colonel McNeil gave me the opportunity.’


‘So you’ll appreciate that there could be at least a chance of your never being able to deliver your message to Wellington?’


‘It’s a risk my conscience will entitle me to take.’


Ross was by no means sure that he would be welcomed by the General. He had a letter of authority. But Wellington had a very personal and clear line of communication with the Foreign Secretary, who happened just at the moment to be his brother, and he might well suspect this semi-military civilian unexpectedly visiting his headquarters of being here on behalf of other members of the Cabinet who thought less well of him. It was not far from the truth, though the thinking was not Ross’s own.


They had squatted together by now on the soft pine needles beneath the trees. A batman brought them a hot drink that passed for coffee, and they sat chatting easily together like old friends.


They had not seen each other for four years, because Ross had been himself abroad when Geoffrey Charles returned after Corunna. Ross was startled at the change in his nephew. When he had last seen him Geoffrey Charles was a young cadet, eager, full of fun and high jinks, drinking and gambling his small allowance away, always in trouble and always in debt. Now he looked lean and hard, all the puppy fat gone, face sun-tanned and keen, handsome in a rather hard-mouthed way that only the army or fox-hunting can produce. A campaigner who by now had seen more war than Ross had ever seen. Not so much like his father as he had once given promise of becoming; perhaps the thin line of dark moustache made a difference, as indeed did the indentation in the jaw.


‘Well, well, my dear life and body, as Prudie would say! I should never have supposed you were so well disposed to me after our last meeting, Uncle! Are you rich? I doubt it. It was never in the character of a Poldark to become rich, however much fate might favour him. Yet you met my urgent needs like a lamb. And they were not small! You got me out of a scrape! Indeed, had you not so helped me I might never have seen Spain and Portugal but have been dismissed the army and spent salutary years vegetating in Newgate!’


‘I doubt it,’ said Ross. ‘You might have suffered some loss of preferment; but in time of war even England cannot afford to let her young officers go to prison for the sake of a few guineas.’


‘Well, had the worst come to the worst I suppose I should have swallowed my pride and asked Stepfather George to bail me out. All the same, your generosity, your forbearance, allowed me to escape the moneylenders without that humiliating experience.’


‘And now it seems you must have mended your ways – Captain Poldark.’


‘Why do you suppose that, Captain Poldark?’


‘Your preferment. Your grave appearance. Four years of very hard soldiering.’


Geoffrey Charles stretched his legs. ‘As for the first, that was easy, men do not make old bones in the Peninsula, so one is given a place as it becomes vacant.’ As to the second, my gravity, if you observe it as such, is largely due to the fact that I am wondering how to compose a letter to Aunt Demelza if her husband comes to hurt under my command. As to the third, four years of soldiering of any sort, as you should know, dear Uncle, does not breed mended ways of any sort. It encourages one in unseemly behaviour, whether with a woman, a bottle, or a pack of cards!’


Ross sighed. ‘Ah, well. I shall keep that from your relatives.’


Geoffrey Charles laughed. ‘But I’m not in debt, Captain. In the most singular way. Last month before this damned retreat began the regiment had a donkey race; there were high wagers on all sides, and I, fancying my moke, backed myself heavily and came in a neck ahead of young Parkinson of the 95th! So for the first time for twenty-odd months I have paid off all my debts and am still a few guineas in pocket! No! Twas lucky I won, else I should have been gravelled how to pay!’


Ross eased his aching ankle. ‘I see someone has been chipping at your face.’


‘Ah yes, and not so engagingly as yours. Ma foi, I could not imagine you without your little love-token, it so becomes you. I lost my bit of jaw on the Coa in July; we had a set-to in front of the bridge. But it could have been worse. The surgeon gave me the piece of bone to keep as a lucky charm.’









Chapter Two


I


The night had worn on, but they dozed only now and then, still exchanging the occasional comment, the quip, the reminiscence. As dawn came nearer they talked more seriously about themselves, about Cornwall, about the Poldarks.


Geoffrey Charles had taken the death of his mother hard. Ross remembered him as a pale-faced youth calling to see him in London one afternoon and saying that this happening, this loss, had changed his attitude towards his future. He was no longer content to go to Oxford, to be groomed pleasantly for the life of an impoverished squire in the extremest south-west of England. To be under the tutelage of his stepfather, whom he disliked, for the sake of his mother, whom he deeply loved, might be acceptable. The former without the latter was not. He wanted to make his own way in the world and felt he could ask no more favours of Sir George Warleggan. His immediate wish was to leave Harrow as soon as he could and join the Royal Military College at Great Marlow as a cadet. Ross had tried to persuade him otherwise; he knew enough of the army himself to see the difficulties of a young man without personal money or influence; he also knew Geoffrey Charles’s already expensive tastes and thought his nephew would find the life too hard. Although three years at Harrow had toughened him, he had been much spoiled and cosseted by his mother when he was younger, and some of that influence still showed.


But nothing would change his mind. It seemed to Ross that the real driving force was a wish to distance himself from Cornwall and all the memories that Cornwall would revive. He had to keep away, and distaste for his stepfather was only a partial reason. So the thing had gone ahead. It had meant a good deal of correspondence with George – which was difficult – but at least they had avoided a meeting. George had been quite generous, offering his stepson an income of £200 a year until he was twenty-one, thereafter to be raised to £500. Geoffrey Charles had wished to spurn it; Ross had bullied him into a grudging acceptance.


‘I’m not thinking solely of myself in this,’ Ross had said, ‘in that the more you receive from him the less you’ll need from me! But George – George owes something to your mother – and your father – and it is elementary justice that he should discharge it.’


‘To ease his conscience?’


‘I have no idea what will ease or disarray his conscience. To take this allowance from him would seem, as I say, a form of elementary justice in the widest sense. If it eases his conscience I am happy for his conscience. But it is much more a matter of an equitable arrangement arrived at for all our sakes. Certainly it would have pleased your mother.’


‘Well, if you feel that way, Uncle Ross, I suppose I’d better fall in.’


So in that bitter February – bitter in all senses – of 1800. In time, of course, Geoffrey Charles had recovered his high spirits. He had taken to his new life with a will – even during the year of temporary peace – and George’s allowance, which came to him fully in 1805, had not prevented him from running into debt, so that Ross had twice had to bale him out of dangerous situations – the last time to the amount of £1000. However, it had not impaired their relationship.


Geoffrey Charles yawned and took out his watch, peered at it by the light of the stars.


‘Just on four, I think. In a few minutes Jenkins should be round with another hot drink. We should break our fast before dawn because I suspect they will be at us in the first light. Before that I want to introduce you to a few of my friends.’


‘I cut no pretty sight in this civilian suit.’


‘I’ve talked often about you to my closest friends, Anderson and Davies. In your own quiet way you have become quite a figure, y’know.’


‘Nonsense.’


‘Well, judging from letters I sometimes get from England. Your name crops up now and then.’


‘Letters from whom?’


‘Never mind. Incidentally, you have scarce told me anything of Cornwall.’


‘You haven’t asked.’


‘No . . . Not from lack of interest . . . But sometimes, when one is bent on the business of killing, a whiff or so of nostalgia is not a good thing.’


‘Tell me about Wellington.’


‘What d’you want to know that you don’t already know? He’s a cold fish, but a great leader and, I believe, a brilliant soldier.’


‘It’s not the general opinion in England.’


‘Nor always among his own men. Even here there are Whigs enough who see no hope of defeating Napoleon and greet each withdrawal we make with a nod as if to say, “I told you so.”


‘The English,’ Ross said, ‘are weary of the long war. The distress in the North and the Midlands is acute. The government seems to spend as much thought to putting down revolution at home as to defeating the French.’


‘The English,’ said Geoffrey Charles, ‘frequently make my bile rise. When we got home after Corunna we were treated as if we had let our country down and run away! They spoke of John Moore with contempt, as if he had been a bungler and a weakling! I dare say if he had not died they would have had him up for a court martial!’


‘Many are arguing different now,’ said Ross. ‘Defeat is never popular, and it takes time to judge all the circumstances.’


‘They sit on their fat bottoms,’ said his nephew, ‘your fellow MPs do, swilling their pints of port and staggering with the aid of a chair from one fashionable function to another; they issue impossible instructions to their greatest general; and then when he dies in attempting to carry them out they rise – they just have strength to rise – in the House and condemn him for his inefficiency, at the same time complimenting the French on their superior fighting skill!’


‘It’s said that Soult has put up a monument to him in Corunna.’


‘Well, of course, one military commander appreciates another! That is an act of courtesy that the English cannot pay to their own – if he should happen to die in defeat instead of – like Nelson – in victory.’


Ross was silent. This son of his old friend and cousin, Francis, a rake and a failure, whom he had sincerely loved (by a woman he had also loved) had grown and changed in mind as well as body since they last met. Ross had always had a softer spot for Geoffrey Charles than could be justified by the relationship. This meeting confirmed and strengthened it. He could hear Francis talking; yet the sentiments were more like his own.


‘And Wellington,’ he prompted again. ‘As against Moore?’


The younger Captain Poldark rubbed fretfully at his injured jaw. ‘Old Douro is a great man. His troops will follow him anywhere. But Moore we loved.’


The batman arrived with another cup of steaming coffee.


‘So, as we’re in the mood now, tell me about Cornwall. You say my favourite aunt is well.’


‘On the whole, yes. Sometimes of late she suffers from a blurred vision but it passes if she spends an hour or two on her back.’


‘Which she will not willingly do.’


‘Which she does not at all willingly do. As for the children . . . Jeremy is now but an inch shorter than I. But I believe most of that growing took place a while ago. When did you last see him?’


‘I did not return to Cornwall after Corunna. I was so angry that our retreat – and Moore’s generalship – should be looked on in the way it was looked on that I threw out the thought of going down there and having to justify what in fact needed no justification . . . So, it must be all of four years – Grandfather’s funeral, that was it. Jeremy must have been about fifteen. He was as tall as I then, but even thinner!’


‘He still is.’


‘And his bent, his way in life?’


‘He seems to have no special wish to join in the war,’ said Ross drily.


‘I don’t blame him. He has a mother, a father, sisters, a pleasant home. I trust you don’t press him.’


‘If this struggle goes on much longer we may all be forced to take some part.’


‘Levée en masse, like the French, eh? That I hope will not happen. But I would rather that than we gave in to Napoleon after all these years!’


Ross cupped the mug, warming his hands on the sides while the steam rose pleasantly into his face. Something was rustling in the undergrowth and the younger man stared at the bushes for a moment.


‘We have many noxious things round here,’ said Geoffrey Charles. ‘Snakes, scorpions . . .’ And then: ‘If we negotiate with Napoleon now it will only be like last time over again – another truce while he gathers breath and we give up our overseas gains. I know this campaign is unpopular, but it’s vital to keep it in being. Is it not? You should know. The government is so weak that one loses all confidence in it. If only Pitt were back.’


‘I think the government will persist while the old King lives.’


‘That’s another hazard. He’s seventy-odd, and they say he’s recently been ill.’


The sound of drums made rattlesnake noises distantly from the French camp.


‘And Clowance?’ asked Geoffrey Charles, as if aware that time was growing short. ‘And your youngest, little Isabella-Rose?’


‘None so little now. Neither of them. Clowance is almost seventeen and becoming somewhat pretty at last. Bella is eight, and very dainty. Quite unlike Clowance at that age, who was something of a tomboy. Still is.’


‘Takes after her mother, Captain.’


‘Indeed,’ said Ross.


‘And Drake and Morwenna?’


‘Bravish, though I’ve not seen them for a year. They’re still at Looe, managing my boat-building works, you know.’


‘It was a good move, getting them away, and I’m grateful for the thought. They had too many memories around Trenwith. Dear God, to think at one time I intended to settle down at Trenwith as a country squire and to employ Drake as my factor!’


‘You still may do the first, if this war ever finishes.’


‘Something must be done about this Corsican, Uncle. It’s appalling to think after all this time the fellow is only just turned forty. The trouble with genius – whether good or ill – it starts so young. Have they any more children?’


‘Who? Drake and Morwenna? No, just the one daughter.’


A messenger came hurriedly through the dark, picking his way among the sleeping figures. He passed close by them but went on and into the tent fifty yards away.


‘Message for Craufurd, I suppose,’ Geoffrey Charles said. ‘I suspect we should break our fast now. That drumroll is spreading down in the valley.’


‘I have not much ammunition,’ said Ross. ‘I could do with a mallet also, for I had not expected to fire as much as I now hope to do.’


‘I’ll get Jenkins to get them for you. We don’t have such things, but the 95th are close by. Thank God, we’re well equipped as to firelocks and the like. And a fair supply of ball for the cannons.’ Geoffrey Charles sat up and massaged his boot where his foot had gone to sleep. ‘And while we’re about it, about this talk of bullets, perhaps I should inquire after the health of a man who certainly deserves one, though he’ll take good care never to come within range . . . I’m speaking, of course, of Stepfather George.’


Ross hesitated. ‘I’ve seen him once or twice in the House of late, but we avoid each other, and altogether it’s better that way. Nor do I often see him in Cornwall. I hope the days of our open conflict are over.’


‘I haven’t seen him since ’06, when Grandfather died. The same day, no doubt, I last met Jeremy. It was mistywet and a very suitable day for a wake. George looked a thought pinched then, growing old perhaps before his time.’


‘He took your mother’s death hard, Geoffrey.’


‘Yes. I’ll say that for him.’


‘As we all did. You know I was – more than fond of your mother.’


‘Yes, I did know that.’


‘Although I’d seen little enough of her since she became Mrs Warleggan, she left – a great gap in my life. Her death – so young – left some permanent emptiness. As I know it did with you. But George surprised me. For all that occurred, all that happened in the past, I can never think anything but ill of him; but his sorrow and dismay at your mother’s death was surprising to me. Perhaps I shall not ever think quite so ill of him again.’


‘Well . . . He has certainly not remarried.’


‘I have to tell you,’ Ross said, ‘that since Mr Chynoweth’s death Trenwith has been neglected. As you know, after your mother’s death, George made his permanent home at his parents’ place at Cardew, but he maintained a small staff at Trenwith to look after your grandparents. I don’t imagine he visited them more than once a month, just to see things were in order. When your grandmother died I believe nothing changed. But after Mr Chynoweth went George virtually closed the house. The new furniture he had bought for it in the ’nineties was all taken away to Cardew, the indoor staff disappeared. So far as I know, much of the grounds are overgrown. The Harry brothers live in the cottage, and I suppose see to the house and grounds as best they can. Harry Harry’s wife may do something too, but that is all.’


‘And George never comes?’


‘I think he would not be George if he never came. He turns up, they say, from time to time to make sure the Harrys cannot altogether relax; but I don’t think his visits are any more than about three-monthly.’


Geoffrey Charles did not answer for a while. The stars were appearing and disappearing behind drifting cloud or fog.


‘I suppose the house is legally mine now.’


‘Yes . . . Well, it will be when you come home to claim it. I feel guilty in not taking more active steps to see to its condition; but so often in the past my intrusion on the property has led to bitter trouble between myself and George. While there were people to be considered, such as your great-aunt Agatha, or your mother, or yourself – or Drake – I felt bound to interfere. But where a property only is concerned . . .’


‘Of course.’


‘Much of the fencing that George put up has gone, either with the passage of time, or villagers have stolen it for firewood; but on the whole I gather very few of them venture on the property. They have a healthy respect for the two Harry bullies, and maybe a certain feeling that in due course it will be occupied by a Poldark again and so not treated too rough. But the house is in bad repair. Clowance went over the other day.’


‘Clowance? What for?’


‘She’s like that. I was home at the time and I scolded her for taking the risk of being caught trespassing. But I think I could as well have saved my breath. Of course she was upset that I was upset, and appreciated the reason. But she tends to be impulsive, to act by instinct rather than reason—’


‘Like her mother?’


‘—ah – yes, but not quite the same. At the back of everything Demelza did – all the times she did apparently wayward things – and still does! – there’s a good solid reason, even though in the old days it was not a reason or a reasoning I could agree with. Clowance is more wayward in that respect than Demelza ever was, because her behaviour seems to be on casual impulse. She had no reason for going over to Trenwith, she just took it into her head to go and look at the house, and so did.’


‘At least she was not caught.’


‘That,’ said Ross, ‘unfortunately was Clowance’s defence. “But, Papa, no one saw me.” “But they might have,” I said, “and it might have led to unpleasantness, to your being insulted.” “But it didn’t, Papa, did it?” How is one to argue with such a girl?’


Geoffrey Charles smiled in the darkness. ‘I appreciate your concern, Uncle. If I am ever out of this war, or have a long enough leave, I’ll get rid of those two Harrys and Clowance can wander about Trenwith to her heart’s content . . . She said it was in bad condition?’


‘You can’t leave a house four years, especially in the Cornish climate, and not have deterioration. Of course . . .


‘What were you going to say?’


‘Only that little if anything has been spent on Trenwith since your mother died. While your grandparents were alive George maintained the place with the minimum of upkeep; so in a sense it is ten years’ neglect, not four.’


‘So it’s time I was home.’


‘In that sense, yes. But this is where you belong now. If we can with our small resources harness the Spanish and Portuguese efforts to resist, it ties down a disproportionate part of Napoleon’s strength. And even his resources are not inexhaustible. It has been a desperately wearying trial of strength and endurance. D’you realize that Clowance can never remember a time when we were not at war with France? Except for that one brief truce. No wonder we are all weary of it.’


‘Weary but not dispirited.’


It looked as if fog was thickening in the valley. Unless it dispersed before dawn it would be of great value to the attacking side.


‘Look, Geoffrey Charles, meeting you in this unexpected way has brought home to me more acutely my neglect of your affairs—’


‘Oh, rubbish.’


‘Not rubbish at all. I am particularly culpable because, nearly thirty years ago, a similar state of affairs occurred in an opposite direction. I came back from the American war when I was twenty-three. My mother had been dead a dozen years or more but my father had only just died. But he had been sick for a while and the Paynters were his only servants, and you can imagine how ill they looked after him. Your grandfather, Charles Poldark, did not get on too well with his brother and seldom came to see him . . . I would not want you – when you come back – to return to the sort of chaos and ruin I returned to.’


Geoffrey Charles said: ‘Hold hard, there’s Jenkins. I’ll go and tell him your requirements. Let’s see your rifle.’ This was examined. ‘A good weapon, Captain, that I’ll wager you did not pick up in Oporto.’


‘No, Captain, I did not.’


‘What is it exactly?’


‘A rifled carbine, with Henry Nock’s enclosed and screwless lock. You see the ramrod is set lower in the stock to make it easier to withdraw and replace when loading.’


Geoffrey Charles frowned at the mist. ‘Some of the sharpshooter regiments have got the Baker rifle. Not us yet. We still handle the old land pattern musket. It serves.’


There was silence for a while.


Ross said: ‘In the American war thirty years ago there was a man called Ferguson – Captain Ferguson of the 70th – he invented a breech-loading rifle. It would fire six shots a minute in any weather. It was a great success . . . But he was killed – killed just after I got there. I used one. Splendid gun. But after he was killed nobody followed it up. Nobody seemed interested.’


‘It’s what one comes to expect of the army,’ said the young man. He bore the rifle away and soon came back with it. ‘That is attended to. Breakfast in ten minutes. Then I’ll introduce you to my friends.’


‘By the way . . .’


‘Yes?’


‘Regarding your stepfather. You said he had not married again.’


‘True. Has he?’


‘No. But I received a letter from Demelza shortly before I left. In it she says that there is a rumour in the county that George is now – at last – taking an interest in another woman.’


‘Mon dieu! Who is she?’


‘Unfortunately I can’t remember the name. It’s no one I know. Harriet something. Lady Harriet something.’


‘Ah,’ said Geoffrey Charles significantly. ‘That may explain a little.’ He scuffed the ground with his boot. ‘Well . . . I suppose I should wish him no ill. He was my mother’s choice. Though they lived a somewhat uneasy life together – undulating between extremes – I believe she was fond of him in her way. So if he marries now at this late age – what is he? fifty-one? – if he marries again now I can only say I hope he is as lucky a second time.’


‘He won’t ever be that,’ said Ross.


A few minutes later they were called to breakfast: a piece of salt beef each, a dozen crumbly biscuits – perhaps with weevils but one could not see – and a tot of rum. Ross met the other men who were Geoffrey Charles’s friends. They were light-hearted, joking, laughing quietly, all eager and ready for the mutual slaughter that lay ahead. They greeted Ross with deference, and a friendliness that deepened when they learned he was not content to be a spectator of the battle.


While they were eating a spare, dour figure on a white horse, followed by a group of officers, rode through them. There was a clicking to attention, a casual, dry word here and there, and then the figure rode on. It was Viscount Wellington making his final tour of the front. He had nine miles of hillside to defend, and his troops were spread thin. But they had the confidence that only a good leader can impart to them.


Ten minutes after Wellington had passed, the drums and pipes of the French army began to roll more ominously, and, as the very first light glimmered through the drifting mists, forty-five battalions of the finest seasoned veterans in Europe, with another twenty-two thousand men in reserve, began to move forward in black enormous masses up the escarpment towards the British positions.









Chapter Three


I


The second courtship of George Warleggan was of a very different nature from the first. A cold young man to whom material possessions, material power and business acumen meant everything, he had coveted his beautiful first wife while she was still only affianced to Francis Poldark. He had known her to be unattainable on all accounts, not merely because of her marriage but because he knew he meant less than nothing in her eyes. Through the years he had striven to mean something to her – and had succeeded on a material level; then, less than a year after Francis’s death, he had seized a sudden opportunity to put his fortunes to the test; and with a sense of incredulity he had heard her say yes.


Of course it was not as straightforward as that, and he knew it at the time. Long before Francis’s death the Trenwith Poldarks had been poverty-stricken; but after his death everything had worsened, and Elizabeth had been left alone to try to keep a home together, with no money, little help, and four people, including her ailing parents, dependent on her. He did not pretend she had married him out of love: her love, however much she might protest to the contrary, had always been directed towards Francis’s cousin, Ross. But it was him she had married and no other: she had become Mrs George Warleggan in name and in more than name, and the birth of a son to them had given him a new happiness, a new feeling of fulfilment, and a new stirring of deeper affection for her.


It was only later that the old hag, Agatha, had poisoned his happiness by suggesting that because Valentine was an eight-month child he was not his.


For a cold man, preoccupied with gain, interested only in business affairs and in acquiring more power and more property, he had found himself suffering far more than he had believed possible.


Although a marriage undertaken on one side to acquire a beautiful and patrician property, and on the other to obtain money and protection and a comfortable life, should certainly not have succeeded beyond the terms for which it was tacitly undertaken, it had been, had become successful. There had been an element of the businesslike in Elizabeth’s nature, and a wish to get on on a material level, which had responded to his mercantile and political ambitions; and he, taken by that response and by much else that he had not expected in her, had found himself more emotionally engaged with each year that passed. That they had quarrelled so much at times was, he knew now, all his fault and had arisen over his unsleeping jealousy of Ross and his suspicions about Valentine’s parentage. But then, just when all that was cleared up, when there had seemed an end at last to bitterness and recrimination, when, because of the premature birth also of their second child, his doubts about Elizabeth and about Valentine had been finally put to rest, just then when the future was really blossoming for them both, she had died. It was a bitter blow. It was a blow from which he had never quite recovered. His knighthood, coming on top of his bereavement, instead of being the crowning point of his pride and ambition, became a sardonic and evil jest, the receiving of a garland which crumbled as he touched it.


So in the early years that followed he had become very morose. He lived mainly at Cardew with his parents, and when his father died he stayed on with his mother, visiting Truro and his Uncle Cary daily to supervise his business interests and, almost incidentally, to acquire more wealth. But his heart was not in it. Still less was it in the social side of his parliamentary career. To enter a room with Elizabeth on his arm was always a matter of pride, to go through the repetitive routine of soirées and supperparties, to perform alone a social routine he had planned for them both, was something he hadn’t the heart to face. Nor any longer quite the same ambition. Unlike his rival and enemy Ross Poldark, his entry into Parliament had never been concerned with what he could do for other people but with what he could do for himself. So now why bother?


Several times he thought of resigning his seat in the House and being content to manipulate the two members sitting for his borough of St Michael; but after the first few bad years were over he was glad he had not. His own membership brought him various commercial rewards, and he found his presence in London enabled him to keep in closer touch with the movement of events than any proxy alternative he could devise.


Both his father and mother pressed him to remarry. Elizabeth, in spite of her high breeding, had never been their choice. They had always found her personally gracious and had got on well enough with her on a day to day basis; but to them she had the disadvantage of being too highly bred without the compensating advantages of powerful connections. Anyway, it was terribly sad she had gone off so sudden that way, but it was a thing that happened to women all the time. Being a woman and a child-bearer was a chancy business at the best of times. Every churchyard was full of them, and every evening party or ball contained one or another eager young widower eyeing the young, juicy unmarried girls and considering which of them might pleasure him best or advantage him most to take to second wife.


Therefore how much more so George! Rich, esteemed in the county – or where not esteemed at least respected – or where not respected at least feared – a borough monger, a banker, a smelter, and now a knight! And only just turned forty! The catch of the county! One of the catches of the country! He could take his pick! Some of the noble families might not perhaps yet quite see it in that light, but they were few, and, as he progressed, becoming fewer. To grieve for a year was the maximum that decorum would dictate. To go on year after year, getting older and steadily more influential, and yet growing each year a little more like his Uncle Cary whose only interest in life was his ledgers and his rates of interest . . . It was too much. Nicholas, who had started all this from nothing, who had laid the foundations on which George had built his empire, who had seen all that he worked and planned for come to fruition and to prosper, had died the month after Pitt, and, as he lay in bed with his heart fluttering at a hundred and sixty to the minute, it had come to his mind to wonder why some sense of achievement, of satisfaction, was lacking. And he could only think that the circumstance disturbing his dying thoughts was his son’s failure to react normally to a normal hazard of married life.


When Nicholas was gone Mary Warleggan continued to prod George about it, but with growing infrequency. What elderly widowed woman can really object to having her only son living at home, or at least be too complaining about it? After all, George had two children, and even if Valentine was growing into a rather peculiar boy, this would no doubt right itself as he became an adult; and she did see a lot of her grandchildren. Valentine spent most of his holidays at home, and little Ursula, the apple of her eye, was at Cardew all the time.


The situation also suited Cary. He had always disliked Elizabeth and she had disliked him, each thinking the other an undesirable influence on George. Now she was gone uncle and nephew had come even closer. Indeed in the first year of widowerhood Cary had twice saved George from making unwise speculative investments; George’s grasp of the helm was as firm as ever, but the bereavement had temporarily deprived him of his instinct for navigation.


That time was now long past. Lately George had even recovered some of his taste for London life and for the larger scale of operations he had been beginning in 1799. He had found a friend in Lord Grenville, one-time prime minister and now the leader of the Whigs, and visited him sometimes at his house in Cornwall. In the endless manipulation of parties and loyalties and seats which had followed the death first of Pitt and then of Fox, George had gradually aligned himself with the Opposition in Parliament. Although he owed his knighthood to Pitt, he had never become a ‘Pittite’, that nucleus of admirers of the dead man notably centring round George Canning. He was convinced that the weak and fumbling Tory administration was bound to come down very soon, and his own interests would be better furthered by becoming a friend of the new men than of the old.


True, some of them had crack-brained schemes about reform and liberty, fellows like Whitbread and Sheridan and Wilberforce; but he swallowed these and was silent when they were aired, feeling sure that when the reformers came to power they would be forced to forget their high ideals in the pressures and exigencies of cabinet office. When the time came he might well be offered some junior post himself.


But George still had no thought of another marriage. Such sexual drive as remained to him seemed permanently to have sublimated itself in business and political affairs. Of course over the years he had not lacked the opportunity to taste the favours of this or that desirable lady who had set her cap at him, either with a view to marriage or because her husband was off somewhere and she wanted to add another scalp to her belt. But always he had hesitated and drawn back out of embarrassment or caution. The opportunity to sample the goods before buying never seemed to him to exist without the risk of later being pressed to purchase; and as to the second sort, he had no fancy to have some woman boasting behind her fan of having had him in her bed and perhaps cynically criticizing his prowess or his expertness.


There was one day he seldom missed visiting Trenwith, and that was on the anniversary of his marriage to Elizabeth. Though the wedding had in fact taken place on the other side of the county, he felt it suitable to spend a few hours in her old home, where he had first met her, where he had largely courted her, where they had spent most summers of their married life, and where she had died even though it was a house that had always been inimical to him, the Poldark family home which had never yielded up its identity to the intruder.


He rode over with a single groom on the morning of June 20, 1810, and was at the church before noon. It was a glittering, sunny day but a sharp draught blew off the land and made the shadows chill. Chill too and dank among the gravestones, the new grass thrusting a foot high through the tangle of last year’s weeds; a giant bramble had grown across Elizabeth’s grave, as thick as a ship’s rope. He kicked at it with his foot but could not break it. ‘Sacred to the memory of Elizabeth Warleggan, who departed this life on the 9th of December, 1799, beloved wife of Sir George Warleggan of Cardew. She died, aged 35, in giving birth to her only daughter.’


He had brought no flowers. He never did; it would have seemed to him a pandering to some theatricality, an emotional gesture out of keeping with his dignity. One could remember without employing symbols. Besides, they were a waste of money; nobody saw them, and in no time they would be withered and dead.


He had taken care that she should be buried far from any of the Poldarks, particularly from that festering bitch Agatha who had ill-wished them all. He stood for perhaps five minutes saying nothing, just staring at the tall granite cross, which was already showing signs of the weather. The letters were blurring, in a few more years would become indistinct. That would never do. They would have to be cleaned, re-cut, cut more deeply. The whole churchyard was in a disgraceful state. One would have thought the Poldarks themselves would have spent a little money on it – though certainly their own patch was not as bad as the rest. The Reverend Clarence Odgers was a doddering old man now, so absent-minded that on Sundays his wife or his son had to stand beside him to remind him where he had got to in the service.


Nankivell, the groom, was waiting with the horses at the lych-gate. George climbed the mounting stone, took the reins, and without speaking led the way to the gates of Trenwith.


The drive was nearly as overgrown as the churchyard and George resolved to berate the Harry brothers. It was a big place for two men to keep in condition, but he suspected they spent half the time drinking themselves insensible. He would have discharged them both long ago if he had not known how much they were feared and hated in the district.


Of course they were waiting for him at the house, along with the one Mrs Harry, whom rumour said they shared between them; all smiles today; this was his one expected visit of the year so they had made an effort to get the place clean and tidy. For an hour he went around with them, sometimes snapping at their explanations and complaints and apologies, but more often quite silent, walking with his memories, recollecting the old scenes. He dined alone in the summer parlour; they had prepared him a fair meal, and Lisa Harry served it. She smelt of camphor balls and mice. The whole house stank of decay.


So what did it matter? It was not his, but belonged to the thin, arrogant, inimical Geoffrey Charles Poldark now fighting with that blundering unsuccessful sepoy general somewhere in Portugal. If, of course, Geoffrey Charles stopped a bullet before the British decided to cut their losses and effect another panic evacuation like Sir John Moore’s, then of course the house would come to him; but even so did it matter what condition it was in? He had no further interest in living here. All he was sure was that he would never sell it to the other Poldarks.


When the meal was finished he dismissed the Harrys and went over the house room by room, almost every one of which had some special memory for him. Some he thought of with affection, one at least with concentrated hate. When he was done he returned to the great hall and sat before the fire Mrs Harry had prudently lighted. The sunshine had not yet soaked through the thick walls of the old Tudor house. He had not decided whether to stay the night. It was his custom to lie here and return on the morrow. But the bedroom upstairs – his bedroom, next to Elizabeth’s old bedroom – had looked uninviting, and not even the two warming-pans in the bed were likely to guarantee it against damp. The year before last he thought he had caught a chill.


He looked at his watch. There was time enough to be back in Truro, if not Cardew – hours of daylight left. But he was loath to move, to wrench at the ribbon of memories that were running through his brain. He lit a pipe – a rare thing for him for he was not a great smoker – and stabbed at the fire, which broke into a new blaze. It spat at him like Aunt Agatha. This was old fir; there was not much else on the estate except long elms and a few pines; not many trees would stand the wind. It was after all a God-forsaken place ever to have built a house. He supposed Geoffrey de Trenwith had made money out of metals even in those far-off days. Like the Godolphins, the Bassets, the Pendarves. They built near the mines that made them rich.


The first time he had seen Aunt Agatha was in this room more than thirty-five years ago. Francis had invited him from school to spend a night. Even then the old woman had been immensely old. Difficult to believe that she had survived everybody and lived long enough to poison the first years of his married life. Years later she had been sitting in that chair opposite him now – the very same chair – when he had come into this room to tell his father that Elizabeth had given birth to a son, born, prematurely, on the 14th February and so to be called Valentine. She had hissed at both of them like a snake, malevolent, resenting their presence in her family home, hating him for his satisfaction at being the father of a fine boy, trying even then with every ingenuity of her evil nature to discover a weak spot in their complacency through which she could insert some venom, some note of discord, some shabby, sour prediction. ‘Born under a black moon,’ she had said, because there had been a total eclipse at the time. ‘Born under a black moon, and so he’ll come to no good, this son of yours. They never do. I only knew two and they both came to bad ends!’


In that chair, opposite him now. Strange how a human envelope collapsed and decayed, yet an inanimate object with four legs carved and fashioned by a carpenter in James II’s day could exist unchanged, untouched by the years. The sun did not get round to the great window for another hour yet, so it was shadowy in here, and the flickering cat-spitting fire created strange illusions. When the flame died one could see Agatha there still. That wreck of an old female, malodorous, the scrawny grey hair escaping from under the ill-adjusted wig, a bead of moisture oozing from eye and mouth, the gravestone teeth, the darting glance, the hand cupped behind the ear. She might be there now. God damn her, she was more real to him at this moment than Elizabeth! But she was dead, had died at ninety-eight, he had at least prevented her from cheating the world about her birthday—


A footstep sounded, and all the nerves in his body started. Yet he contrived not to move, not to give way, not to accept . . .


He looked round and saw a fair tall girl standing in the room. She was wearing a white print frock caught at the waist with a scarlet sash, and she was carrying a sheaf of foxgloves. She was clearly as surprised to see him as he was to see her.


In the silence the fire spat out a burning splinter of wood, but it fell and smoked unheeded on the floor.


‘Who are you? What d’you want?’ George spoke in a harsh voice he had seldom cause to use these days; people moved at his bidding quickly enough; but this apparition, this intrusion . . .


The girl said: ‘I am sorry. I saw the door open and thought perhaps it had blown open.’


‘What business is it of yours?’


She had a stillness about her, a composure that was not like excessive self-confidence – rather an unawareness of anything untoward or wrong.


‘Oh, I come here sometimes,’ she said. ‘The foxgloves are handsome on the hedges just now. I’ve never seen the door open before.’


He got up. ‘D’you know that you’re trespassing?’


She came a few paces nearer and laid the flowers on the great dining table, brushed a few leaves and spattering of pollen from her frock.


‘Are you Sir George Warleggan?’ she asked.


Her accent showed she was not a village girl and a terrible suspicion grew in his mind.


‘What is your name?’


‘Mine?’ She smiled. ‘I’m Clowance Poldark.’


II


When Clowance returned to Nampara everyone was out. The front door was open, and, she went in and whistled three clear notes: D, Bb, A, then ran half up the stairs and whistled again. When there was no response she carried her foxgloves through the kitchen into the backyard beyond, filled a pail at the pump where twenty-six years before her mother had been swilled when brought to this house, a starveling brat from Illuggan, and thrust the flowers into the water so that they should not wilt before that same lady came in and had time to arrange them. Then she went in search.


It was a lovely afternoon and Clowance was too young to feel the chill of the wind. Spring had been late and dry, and they were haymaking in the Long Field behind the house. She saw a group standing half way up the field and recognized her mother’s dark head and dove-grey frock among them. It was refreshment-time, and Demelza had helped Jane Gimlett carry up the cloam pitcher and the mugs. The workers had downed tools and were gathered round Mistress Poldark while she tipped the pitcher and filled each mug with ale. There were eight of them altogether: Moses Vigus, Dick Trevail (Jack Cobbledick’s illegitimate son by Nancy Trevail), Cal Trevail (Nancy’s legitimate son), Matthew Martin, Ern Lobb, ‘Tiny’ Small, Sephus Billing and Nat Triggs. They were all laughing at something Demelza had said as Clowance came up. They smiled and grinned and nodded sweatily at the daughter of the house, who smiled back at them.


‘Mug of ale, Miss Clowance?’ Jane Gimlett asked. ‘There’s a spare one if you’ve the mind.’


Clowance had the mind, and they talked in a group until one after another the men turned reluctantly away to take up their scythes again. Last to move was Matthew Martin, who always lingered when Clowance was about. Then mother and daughter began to stroll back towards the house, Clowance with the mugs, Jane bringing up the rear at a discreet distance with the empty pitcher.


‘No shoes again, I see,’ said Demelza.


‘No, love. It’s summer.’


‘You’ll get things in your feet.’


‘They’ll come out. They always do.’


It was a small bone of contention. To Demelza, who had never had shoes until she was fourteen, there was some loss of social status in being barefoot. To Clowance, born into a gentleman’s home, there was a pleasurable freedom in kicking them off, even at sixteen.


‘Where is everybody?’


‘Jeremy’s out with Paul and Ben.’


‘Not back yet?’


‘I expect the fish are not biting. And if you look over your left shoulder you’ll see Mrs Kemp coming off the beach with Bella and Sophie.’


‘Ah yes. And Papa?’


‘He should be back any time.’


‘Was it a bank meeting?’


‘Yes.’


They strolled on in silence, and when they reached the gate they leaned over it together waiting for Mrs Kemp and her charges to arrive. The wind ruffled their hair and lifted their frocks.


It was a little surprising that two such dark people as Ross and his wife had bred anyone so unquestionably blonde as Clowance. But she had been so born and showed no signs of darkening with maturity. As a child she had always been fat, and it was only during the last year or so since she had left Mrs Gratton’s School for Young Ladies that she had begun to fine off and to grow into good looks. Even so, her face was still broad across the forehead. Her mouth was firm and finely shaped and feminine, her eyes grey and frank to a degree that was not totally becoming in a young lady of her time. She could grow quickly bored and as quickly interested. Twice she had run away from boarding-school – not because she particularly disliked it but because there were more engaging things to do at home. She greeted every incident as it came and treated it on its merits, without fear or hesitation. Clowance, Demelza said to Ross, had a face that reminded her of a newly opened ox-eye daisy, and she dearly hoped it would never get spotted with the rain.


As for Demelza herself, her approximate fortieth birthday had just come and gone, and she was trying, so far with some success, to keep her mind off the chimney corner. For a ‘vulgar’, as the Reverend Osborne Whitworth had called her, she had worn well, better than many of her more high-bred contemporaries. It was partly a matter of bone structure, partly a matter of temperament. There were some fine lines on her face that had not been there fifteen years ago, but as these were mainly smile lines and as her expression tended usually to the amiable they scarcely showed. Her hair wanted to go grey at the temples but, unknown to Ross, who said he detested hair dyes, she had bought a little bottle of something from Mr Irby of St Ann’s and surreptitiously touched it up once a week after she washed it.


The only time she looked and felt her age, and more than it, was when she had one of her headaches, which usually occurred monthly just before her menstrual period. During the twenty-six days of good health she steadily put on weight, and during the two days of the megrim she lost it all, so a status quo was preserved.


In the distance Bella recognized her mother and sister and waved, and they waved back.


Clowance said: ‘Mama, why do Jeremy and his friends go out fishing so much and never catch any fish?’


‘But they do, my handsome. We eat it regularly.’


‘But not enough. They go out after breakfast and come back for supper, and their haul is what you or I in a rowboat could cull in a couple of hours!’


‘They are not very diligent, any of them. Perhaps they just sit in the sun and dream the day away.’


‘Perhaps. I asked him once but he said there was a scarcity round the coast this year.’


‘And might that not be true?’


‘Only that the Sawle men don’t seem to find it so.’


They strolled on a few paces.


‘At any rate,’ said Clowance, ‘I’ve picked you some handsome foxgloves.’


‘Thank you. Did you call at the Enyses?’


‘No . . . But I did meet a friend of yours, Mama.’


Demelza smiled. ‘That covers a deal of ground. But d’you really mean a friend?’


‘Why?’


‘Something in the way you used the word.’


Clowance brushed a flying ant off her frock. ‘It was Sir George Warleggan.’


She carefully did not look at her mother after she had spoken, but she was aware of the stillness beside her.


Demelza said: ‘Where?’


‘At Trenwith. It was the first time ever I saw the front door open, so in I went to look in – and there he was in the big hall, sitting in front of a smoky fire with a pipe in his hand that had gone out and as sour an expression as if he had been eating rigs.’


‘Did he see you?’


‘Oh yes. We spoke! We talked! We conversed! He asked me what damned business I had there and I told him.’


‘Told him what?’


‘That he has the best foxgloves in the district, especially the pale pink ones growing on the hedge by the pond.’


Demelza flattened her hair with a hand, but the wind quickly clutched it away again. ‘And then?’


‘Then he was very rude with me. Said I was trespassing and should be prosecuted. That he would call his men and have me taken to the gates. Said this and that, in a rare temper.’


Demelza glanced at her daughter. The girl showed no signs of being upset.


‘Why did you go there, Clowance? We’ve told you not to. It is inviting trouble.’


‘Well, I didn’t expect to meet him! But it doesn’t matter. There’s no harm done. I reasoned with him.’


‘You mean you answered him back?’


‘Not angry, of course. Very dignified, I was. Very proper. I just said it all seemed a pity, him having to be rude to a neighbour – and a sort of cousin.’


‘And what did he say to that?’


‘He said I was no cousin, no cousin of his at all, that I didn’t know what I was talking about and I’d better go before he called the Harry brothers to throw me out.’


Mrs Kemp was now approaching. Bella and Sophie were making the better pace on the home stretch and were some fifty yards in front.


Demelza said: ‘Don’t tell your father you’ve been to Trenwith. You know what he said last time.’


‘Of course not. I wouldn’t worry him. But I didn’t think it would worry you.’


Demelza said: ‘It isn’t worry exactly, dear, it is – it is fishing in muddied streams that I hate. I can’t begin to explain – to tell you everything that made your father and George Warleggan enemies, nor all that happened to spread it so that the gap between us all became so great. You surely will have heard gossip . . .’


‘Oh yes. That Papa and Elizabeth Warleggan were in love when they were young. Is that very terrible?’


Demelza half scowled at her daughter, and then changed her mind and laughed.


‘Put that way, no . . . But in a sense it continued all their lives. That – did not help, you’ll understand. But—’


‘Yet I’m sure it was not like you and Papa at all. Yours is something special. I shall never be lucky enough to get a man like him; and of course I shall never be able to be like you . . .’


Bella Poldark, slight and dark and pretty, came dancing and prattling up with a story of something, a dead fish or something, large and white and smelly they had found near the Wheal Leisure adit. She had wanted to tug it home but Mrs Kemp would not let her. Sophie Enys, a year younger and outdistanced on the last lap, soon contributed her account. Demelza bent over talking to them, glad of the opportunity to wipe something moist out of her sight. Compliments from one’s children were always the most difficult to take unemotionally, and compliments from the ever candid Clowance were rare enough to be specially noted. When Mrs Kemp joined them they all walked back to the house, Jane Gimlett having preceded them to put on tea and cakes for the little girls.


The eager flood that had caught up with Clowance and her mother now washed past them and left them behind, in the enticing prospect of food, so the two women followed on. They were exactly of a height, and as they walked the wind, blowing from behind them, ruffled their hair like the soft tail feathers of eider ducks.


Demelza said: ‘Then you were allowed to leave Trenwith unmolested?’


‘Oh yes. We did not part so bad in the end. I left him some of my foxgloves.’


‘You – left George? You left George some foxgloves?’


‘He didn’t want to have them. He said they could wilt on the damned floor of the damned hall, for all he cared, so I found an old vase and filled it with water and put them on that table. What a great table it is! I never remember seeing it before! I believe it will be still there when the house falls down.’


‘And did he – allow you to do this?’


‘Well, he didn’t forcibly stop me. Though he snarled once or twice, like a fradgy dog. But I believe his bark may be worse than his bite.’


‘Do not rely on that,’ said Demelza,


‘So after I had arranged them – though I still cannot do it so well as you – after that I gave him a civil good afternoon.’


‘And did you get another snarl?’


‘No. He just glowered at me. Then he asked me my name again. So I told him.’









Chapter Four


I


It was said of William Wyndham, first Baron Grenville, that one of the flaws in his distinguished parliamentary career was his passion for Boconnoc, his eight-thousand-acre estate in Cornwall. Bought by William Pitt’s grandfather with part of the proceeds of the great Pitt diamond, it had come to Grenville by way of his marriage to Anne Pitt, Lord Camelford’s daughter.


A man of austere and aristocratic tastes, a man not above lecturing many people, not excluding the Royal Family, on their responsibilities and duties, he was wont to ignore his own once he was two hundred and fifty miles from Westminster and settled in his mansion overlooking the great wooded park, with his own property stretching as far as the most long-sighted eye could see.


It was here, not in Westminster, that George Warleggan had first met him. Sir Christopher Hawkins, who had been a good friend to George as well as making money out of him, had represented to Lord Grenville that if his Lordship needed another spare man in addition to himself for the banquet held at Boconnoc to celebrate Trafalgar, the member for St Michael, who had been a knight for five years and was of influence in the Truro district, might make a suitable guest. George had accepted the invitation with surprise and alacrity. It was just about the period when he was beginning to emerge from the long shadow cast by Elizabeth’s death and when his personal ambition was stirring again.


No one, not even George himself, would have claimed that in the succeeding five years he had become an intimate of Lord Grenville – becoming a close friend of Lord Grenville’s was considerably more difficult than to become one of the Prince of Wales – but he was accepted as an occasional guest in the great house. And they met at Westminster from time to time. Grenville acknowledged him as a useful supporter and a neighbouring Cornishman. Bereft of his helpmeet, George had done little personal entertaining, but in the summer of 1809 he had given a big party at Cardew and had invited Lord and Lady Grenville. Grenville had refused, but it was a note written in his own hand.


It was the following year, a month after George’s annual pilgrimage to Trenwith and about a month before Ross had yielded to pressure and accepted the invitation to go to Portugal, that the Grenvilles invited George to a reception and dinner at their house, and it was on this occasion that he first met Lady Harriet Carter. They sat next to each other at dinner, and George was attracted, partly physically, partly by a sense of the unfamiliar.


She was dark – as night dark as Elizabeth had been day fair – and not pretty, but her face had the classic bone structure that George always admired. Her raven hair had a gloss like japan leather; she had remarkably fine eyes. She was dressed in that elegant good taste that he recognized as the hall-mark of women like his first wife.


One would have thought it unlikely to meet anyone at Lord Grenville’s table who was not socially acceptable, but sometimes, in his seignorial role as one of the largest private landlords in the county, his Lordship thought it meet to include among his guests a few local bigwigs (and their wives) who in George’s opinion were not big at all. This was clearly not such a one.


Conversation at the table for a time was concerned with riots in the north of England, the depreciation of the currency and the scandal of the Duke of Cumberland; but presently his partner wearied of this and turned to him and said:


‘Tell me, Sir George, where do you live?’


‘Some thirty miles to the west, ma’am. At Cardew. Between Truro and Falmouth.’


‘Good hunting country?’


‘I’ve heard it so described.’


‘But you don’t hunt yourself?’


‘I’ve little time.’


She laughed – very low. ‘What else is more important?’


George inclined his head towards his host. ‘The affairs of the kingdom.’


‘And you are concerned with those?’


‘Among other things.’


‘What other things?’


He hesitated, a little nettled that she knew nothing about him. ‘Affairs of the county. You do not live in Cornwall, ma’am?’


‘I live at Hatherleigh, just over the border – in England.’


They talked a few minutes. Her voice was husky and she had an attractive laugh, which was almost all breath – low, indolent and sophisticated. You felt there wasn’t much she didn’t know about life – and didn’t tolerate. He found himself glancing at her low-cut gown and thinking her breasts were like warm ivory. It was an unusual thought for him.


As another course was served a man called Gratton leaned across the table and boomed at him: ‘I say, Warleggan, what sort of stand do you take on Catholic Emancipation? I’ve never heard you speak about it in the House!’


‘I speak little in the House,’ George replied coldly. ‘I leave oratory to the orators. There are other ways of being valuable.’


‘Yes, old man, but you must have an opinion! Everyone has, one way or t’other. How d’you vote?’


It was a ticklish question, for, on this as on so many other domestic subjects, George differed from his host and was at pains to hide it for the sake of his personal good. Gratton was a ninny anyhow and deserved to be taken down. But George was not quick-witted, and he was aware that Lady Harriet was listening.


‘To tell the truth, Gratton, it is not a subject on which I have extravagant feelings, so I vote with my friends.’


‘And who are your friends?’


‘In this company,’ said George, ‘need you ask?’


Gratton considered the plate of venison that had just been put before him. He helped himself to the sweet sauce and the gravy. ‘I must say, old man, that that’s a very unsatisfactory answer, since it’s a subject on which governments have fallen before now!’


‘And will again, no doubt,’ said Gratton’s partner. ‘Or will fail to stand up in the first place!’


‘Mr Gratton,’ said Lady Harriet, ‘what would you say to emancipating the Wesleyans for a change? Now the Prince of Wales has taken up with Lady Hertford I suspicion we shall all be psalm-singing before long.’


There was a laugh, and talk turned to bawdy speculation as to the nature of the Prince’s relationship with his new favourite.


Lady Harriet said to George in a low voice: ‘I take it, Sir George, that your fondness for the Catholics is not so great as that of my Lord Grenville?’


He had appreciated her turning the subject and suspected it had been deliberate.


‘Personally, ma’am, I care little one way or the other, since religious belief does not loom large in my life. But for the preference I’d keep them out of Parliament and public service. They’ve bred traitors enough in the past.’


As soon as he had spoken he regretted his frankness and was astonished at his own indiscretion. To say such a thing in this company was folly indeed if he wished, as he did, to remain on the Grenville political stage-coach. He cursed himself and cursed this woman for provoking him into speaking the truth.


He added coldly: ‘No doubt I offend you, but I trust you will look on this as a personal confidence.’


‘Indeed,’ she said, ‘you do not offend me. And in return I will give you a little confidence of my own. I hate all Catholics, every last one. And William, I fear, knows it.’


OEBPS/xhtml/toc.xhtml






    		Cover



    		Title page



    		Contents



    		Family Tree of Charles Vivian Raffe POLDARK (1667–1708)



    		Family Tree of Jonathan CHYNOWETH (of Cusgarne) (1690–1750)



    		BOOK ONE



    		Chapter One



    		Chapter Two



    		Chapter Three



    		Chapter Four



    		Chapter Five



    		Chapter Six



    		Chapter Seven



    		Chapter Eight



    		Chapter Nine



    		BOOK TWO



    		Chapter One



    		Chapter Two



    		Chapter Three



    		Chapter Four



    		Chapter Five



    		Chapter Six



    		Chapter Seven



    		Chapter Eight



    		Chapter Nine



    		BOOK THREE



    		Chapter One



    		Chapter Two



    		Chapter Three



    		Chapter Four



    		Chapter Five



    		Chapter Six



    		Chapter Seven



    		Chapter Eight



    		Chapter Nine



    		THE MILLER’S DANCE



    		Chapter One



    		About the Author



    		By Winston Graham



    		Copyright page











Guide





    		Cover



    		Title page



    		Contents



    		BOOK ONE











OEBPS/images/img001.jpg
D e TR m R oA T A
= Av s T o Treni) (690-175)

gt

r—— Cone ey (1696178 Saryten
. M e P (158-178) Roer

—

s (717
Al R o (1719-81)

R Wil At oo (1744 )

sVl (1719-59)
Ve Michl (1707

4 et )

Fancs 1750-51)
i oo (1754-59)

Ve (75
. Antro Bamey (1765 )

g

—

—

e

ottt o)

o (172085
o Ve 170-1)

B Ve (170 )
. Demin G (170 )

1

o ey
g e B )

pors gl gy





OEBPS/images/img002.jpg
R Ao

Joomtan (171071
. B Laon (1716-50)

Joantan (17571306
o e G (1750100)

e 1764591
1) o Fktk
) Ceore e

TomchRNE (174000
= Denciatyon (175271

Dencta (170 )
Leae (1)
S 772
Wt 0775
o 774
Rober (1715 )
Do 7 )

e, g
. Ao T (16551750

e

Rober 171230
. Ui Ve (172089

Her 130-55)
. A Tl (171

Mo (175 )
.01 B Crorne Wit 2 Drae Grne

[ 8 Dokec
L Loy 1501

Gt (73 ) 7 Morwrnss

‘G 0 x

o (70 ) } gy

= A Sy

Lok WARLEGGAN (1715150)
. Bk ey (71640

ol o Carew) (751505
Ny Lt 752 )

\ ——
phra
o )
o e i ot o)
ey

Vakaine (70}
oA





OEBPS/images/cover.jpg
"WINSTON GRAHAM

POLDARK

TheE Stranger from thie:Se






OEBPS/images/logo.jpg





